#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 18 1006

· V

JASON JAMES MAHN,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

**Citter Deputy Olark** 

v.

CASE NO. 83,423

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 201170
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### Procedural Progress of the Case

On April 27, 1993, Jason James Mahn was indicted for two counts of first degree murder for the deaths of Debra Jean Shanko and Anthony Shanko. (R 1-2) In a separate information, the State charged Mahn with armed robbery, cruelty to animals and criminal mischief. (R 3-5) These charges arose from the same events as the murder counts. The trial court consolidated the two cases for trial. (R 66-67)(Tr 17) Before trial, the issue of Mahn's mental competency to proceed to trial was raised and litigated. (The competency hearing was held on July 13-14 & 16, 1993, and a separately numbered three volume transcript is in the record on appeal. Psychological evaluations are in the record at R 39-58) The trial court found Mahn competent to stand trial. At a jury trial, the court granted a judgment of acquittal to the cruelty to animals and criminal mischief charges. (Tr 1095-1099) The jury found Mahn guilty of both first degree murder charges and the armed robbery. (R 119-120; Tr 1265) Although the jury was not given a verdict form requiring a selection of felony murder or premeditated murder theories, the court inquired after the verdict and learned that the jury rested its verdicts on the premeditation theory. (Tr 1266-1271)

The jury returned its verdicts on November 16 1993, and on the following day, the penalty phase of the trial was conducted. (R 119-120) On Count One of the indictment charging the murder of Debra Shanko, the jury recommended a sentence of life

in prison. (R 128, Tr 1701) As to Count Two, charging the murder of Anthony Shanko, the jury recommended a death sentence. (R 128, Tr 1701) Circuit Judge Frank L. Bell conducted a sentencing hearing on January 25, 1994, and imposed sentence at a separate proceeding on February 23, 1994. (R 130-236, 236-273) Judgments and sentences were rendered on the same day. (R 276-306) The court sentenced Mahn to death for each murder, overriding the jury's recommended sentence for the murder of Debra Shanko, and to seventeen years for the robbery. (R 278-280) (orders imposing the death sentences are attached to this brief as Appendix A & B). In the findings of facts in support of the death sentences, the court found the same three aggravating circumstances applied to both murders: (1) Mahn had a previous conviction for a violent felony based on a 1992 robbery conviction and the contemporaneously committed murder in this case; (2) the homicides were heinous, atrocious or cruel; and (3) the homicides were committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. (R 287-290, 299-301) In mitigation, the court found that no statutory mitigating circumstances were established. (R 290-292, **302-303)** Regarding nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, the court found the seven offered by the defense to be established: (1) Jason's dysfunctional family background; (2) Jason's remorse for the crimes; (3) Jason's youth and possible responsiveness to long term care; (4) Jason's history of alcoholism and drug abuse; (5) Jason's mental and emotional problems; (6) Jason's suffering physical and mental abuse by his mother and a series of stepfathers and

boyfriends; and (7) Jason's freely given voluntary confession to the crimes. (R 292-294, 304-305)

Mahn filed his notice of appeal to this Court on March 18, 1994. (R 307)

#### Facts -- Guilt Phase

Michael Mahn is Jason Mahn's father. (Tr 693) . He married Jason's mother in Wisconsin, but they separated when Michael Mahn moved to Florida when Jason was 9 ½ months old. (Tr 721, 723-724). Mahn said he tried to re-establish contact with Jason on a couple of occasions about four years later, but was told that Jason's mother did not want him contacting Jason. (Tr 722, 725). He knew that Jason and his mother had moved to Arizona or Texas. (Tr 725). Michael Mahn had no contact with Jason until Jason turned 18-years-old in 1992 and telephoned him from Texas. (Tr 722). Michael invited Jason to move to Florida and assisted him in finding a job and getting an automobile. (Tr 694-696). During the year Jason was in Florida, he would live in Michael Mahn's home with his girlfriend of thirteen years, Debra Shanko, and her son, Anthony Shanko. (Tr 694-696) . Jason would live there off and on between jobs or when he would run out of money. (Tr 695-696). He stayed in the house a total of four months during the one-year period. (Tr 720 - 721).

On April 1, 1993, Jason had moved into his father's home and was working at a nearby restaurant. (Tr 696-697). Although Jason had been making payments to his father for the automobile

his father had purchased for him, he had told his father he was unable to pay the repair bill on the car. (Tr 696). Michael Mahn was preparing the sell the 1984 Toyota in order to pay off his charge card where he had paid the repair bill. (Tr 696). Michael said that was an agreement he had with Jason. (Tr 696-697). Therefore, on that day, which was Jason's 20th birthday, Michael Mahn was delivering the car to the potential purchaser. (Tr 698). Jason came in from work about 4:30 p.m. and voluntarily assisted his father in washing the car in preparation for delivery to the purchaser. (Tr 716). Jason expressed no bitterness about the fact that the car would be gone and assisted his father on his own initiative. (Tr 716).

Michael Mahn delivered the car to the potential purchaser, she kept the car and drove him home at 9:00 p.m. (Tr 698). when he returned, Michael talked to Debbie for a while and left again about 9:30 or 9:45 p.m. (Tr 698). At that time, Jason was in his room, Anthony was sleeping, and Debbie was exercising with weights. (Tr 700). Jason came out of his room and went to the kitchen to get something to drink just as Michael was leaving the house. (Tr 700). Jason was dressed in maroon sweat pants and a t-shirt at the time. (Tr 700). Michael went to the Carousal Lounge and had three or four drinks, stopped for a hamburger, and returned home. (Tr 701).

When Michael returned, he noticed that Debbie's Thunder-bird, usually parked in the driveway, was gone. (Tr 702). The garage door was open. (Tr 702). The garage door had been closed since his red Corvette, which he rarely drove, was

parked inside. (Tr 702). The front door of the house was unlocked and slightly open. (Tr 702). Inside, Michael saw blood all over the floors and walls. (Tr 703). As he walked down the hallway, he saw Debbie lying across the hallway on the floor with her head partially into the doorway to Jason's room. (Tr 703). Michael realized she was dead. (Tr 703). He continued into the master bedroom and found Anthony there on the bed. (Tr 703-704). He noticed a large wound in Anthony's chest. (Tr 704). Anthony was on his side and still alive. (Tr 704-705). Anthony said it hurt when he tried to talk. (Tr 705). Michael did not want to use the telephone in the bedroom, it was off the hook and covered with blood. He knew that the telephone in the living room was not working properly. (Tr 705). He went outside to his truck and used his cellular phone to call 911. (Tr 705).

Officer Tai Nguyen arrived at the residence at 1:25 a.m. (Tr 426-427). He met Michael Mahn outside and proceeded into the home. (Tr 427-429). He found Debbie's body in the hallway and Anthony on the bed in the master bedroom still conscious. (Tr 429-430). He noted there were trails of blood leading into and out of the bedroom. (Tr 430). Michael advised him that Jason was his son and he was no longer present at the house. (Tr 431).

Emergency Medical Services personnel arrived and assisted Anthony. (Tr 466-486). Officer Greg Moody assisted the EMTs in transporting Anthony out of the house. (Tr 466-470). Before Anthony was placed into the ambulance, another police officer,

Officer Pate, asked Anthony who had been responsibility for his Anthony responded that Jason did it. (Tr wounds. (Tr 468). 469). Anthony was suffering from a sucking chest wound and constantly told the persons assisting him that it was difficult to talk, that it hurt when he talked, and he said he was dying. (Tr 473, 478). The emergency room physician, Dr. Krnanbir Gill attempted to assist Anthony. (Tr 490-500). Gill said that he knew that Anthony's only chance of survival was immediate surgery to stop the bleeding and assist his breathing. (Tr 493-495). Unfortunately, Anthony went into cardiac arrest and died before he reached the operating room. (Tr 495-497). The stab wounds Anthony suffered had cut the vena cava, the largest blood vessel that supplies the heart. (Tr 500). Dr. Gill said that there was only a small chance of survival with these types of injuries. (Tr 500).

Dr. John Lazarchick, a pathologist with the Medical Examiner's Office, performed autopsies on both Debra Shanko and Anthony Shanko, (Tr 808). Lazarchick also viewed the scene of the homicides. (Tr 810-813). An examination of Deborah Shanko's body showed almost 40 stab wounds. (Tr 817). A number of these wounds were very superficial, some were defensive wounds, and some wounds penetrated the chest and abdomen. (Tr 814). Five of these wounds were potentially fatal. (Tr 848). One wound penetrated the liver and cut a major vein. (Tr 848). Two other wounds caused the collapse of the lungs, making it difficult to breath, (Tr 848). Two additional wounds caused tearing of internal organs, including the stomach, and severed

major blood vessel. (Tr 848). The medical examiner could not say if any one of these wounds was fatal or if a combination of the wounds caused death. (Tr 848-849). Debra Shanko essentially bled to death. (Tr 849). Additionally, the medical examiner testified that a number of these superficial wounds were consistent with a struggle or a fight over the knife. (Tr 864-867). He also stated that the wounds she received would not have immediately incapacitated her. (Tr 867). have be able to get up and move around. (Tr 867). The medical examiner also observed a great amount of blood in various areas around the house. (Tr 808-813, 870). He could not tell if the struggle necessarily occurred at the area of the house where a concentration of blood was located or whether the struggle occurred elsewhere the victim moved and bled in that location. (Tr 870). The medical examiner was not able to determine how the struggle occurred or necessarily what scenario of event happened. (Tr 867).

The autopsy of Anthony Shanko showed six stab wounds, one of which was fatal. (Tr 849). The medical examiner also found evidence of the surgery to the stab wound in his chest, and he consulted with the trauma surgeon to determine the size of the original wound. (Tr 852-853). This wound ultimately caused death, it went into the liver and cut the major artery in that area. The second wound, possibly a defensive wound, was located on the right arm. (Tr 854-855). The third wound was on the right arm close to the elbow. (Tr 856). There was a fourth wound on the left arm, which may have been a defensive wound,

but the medical examiner could not be sure.(Tr 857-858). Other wounds were located on the left leg and the right buttocks. (Tr 858-859). The fatal wound to the chest region went through the ribs and between the ribs and into the liver. (Tr 859).

Three days later, on April 4, 1993, Jason Mahn was apprehended in Oklahoma, driving Debra Shanko's Thunderbird. (Tr 879-925). A police officer noted he was driving about 10 MPH over the speed limit, did a routine license check, and determined the automobile was reported stolen with a possible homicide suspect driving it. (Tr 880-881). When the officers attempted to stop Jason, he fled and a highspeed chase followed. (Tr 879-887). After Jason crashed the car, he fled on foot and later hopped on a train. (Tr 887-888, 907-913). The personnel on the train alerted the police, and when the train stopped, the police were waiting. (Tr 908-912, 914-917). Jason again fled on foot, but officers pursued him and ultimately arrested him. (Tr 916-925). Jason had no weapons and was not wearing any shoes. (Tr 922-924, 912). He was dirty from black soot from the train and cold and wet from exposure. (Tr 936).

Jason gave statements about the homicides to police detectives in Oklahoma. (Tr 948-953, 981-982, 1001-1009, 1029-1056, 1058-1082, 1084-1092). Bobby Darrell Gertin of the Oklahoma Highway Patrol was present at the time Jason was in the booking area of the Claremore Police Department. (Tr 946). Jason asked him for a cigarette, and Gertin told him that he could not have one because the booking cell area was a non-smoking area. (Tr 947-948). Jason said that he would tell him

anything he wanted to know if he would give him a cigarette. (Tr 948). Gertin gave him a cigarette. (Tr 948). Jason said that he killed both of them. (Tr 948). Gertin asked who? (Tr 948). Jason responded his father's girlfriend and his brother, Anthony. (Tr 948). Jason said he did it to get back at his father because his father always told him he was no good and that he took his car away. (Tr 948). He said he got a knife and stabbed Anthony. (Tr 948). He thought the first stab wound would kill him. (Tr 948). Instead, Anthony fought and screamed, and he had to stab him additional times. (Tr 948). After the scream, Debra came into the room, and he had to take care of her. (Tr 948). Jason tried to get his father's Corvette but could not find the keys. (Tr 949). He took the Thunderbird, started it, and then thought about having no money, so he went back inside. (Tr 949). He got \$400 out of Debra's bank bag. (Tr 949). When he returned to the Thunderbird, he had locked the doors. He used a brick to break the window out of the car. (Tr 949). Gertin also noticed that Jason had cuts on his right hand. (Tr 950). Jason said he got those when Anthony was fighting him. (Tr 950). Jason did not say anything about taking care of Debbie before he attacked Anthony. (Tr 952). He did not mention a plan to kill her. (Tr 952). He said that he took care of her because she came into the room after Anthony's attack. (Tr 952-953).

Roy Heim of the Tulsa Police Department also testified about a statement Jason made to him about the homicides. (Tr 1001-1009). Heim had given Jason a map and asked him to point

out where he had traveled since the homicide. (Tr 1001-1002). During this conversation, Jason indicated there were two knives involved, but he only used one of them. (Tr 1002). He used the same knife to stab his brother and his father's girlfriend. (Tr 1002). He took the bank bag out of Debbie's bedroom and it had about \$400 in it. (Tr 1002). Jason stated that he shot up some cocaine before the murder. Jason also said he had two hits of LSD on a white blotter prior to the murder. (Tr 1002). Jason did not say how much prior to the murder he used the cocaine or the LSD. (Tr 1002-1003). Heim said that they did not pursue further questions on that point. (Tr 1002-1003, 1009). Jason indicated that he did not have any problems with his father's girlfriend. (Tr 1003). Heim was of the understanding that a videotaped statement had been taken of Jason, but he was not involved in that statement. (Tr 1004).

Micky Perry testified about videotaped interviews made with Jason at the Claremore Oklahoma Police Department, (Tr 1028-1029). Perry said that at the time of the statement, Jason was suffering from several cuts on his hand, a finger and a couple of scratches on his elbow. (Tr 1032-1033). Jason indicated that he received the cuts when he was stabbing Anthony. (Tr 1033).

The videotaped statement was played for the jury and Mahn stated the following:

Jason grew up in Wakesah, Wisconsin. (Tr 1042). He lived with his mother his whole life until he finally met his natural father and moved to Florida roughly a year earlier. (Tr 1042).

He told the officers he was 20-years-old, and he was charged with a robbery and was out on bound from Pensacola. (Tr 1043). He said he had been in trouble while he was living with his mother, he never had money and would have to steal. (Tr 1044). He was living with his father in Florida off and on, but his father told him he was worthless and he should kill him. (Tr 1044).

Jason said that at the time of the incident, he felt as if, "I just couldn't live no more." (Tr 1045). He wanted to kill himself because his life was so miserable. (Tr 1045). He was too scared to kill himself. (Tr 1045). Jason said Debbie and Anthony Shanko did not do anything to him and they did not deserve what happened to them. (Tr 1045). Jason was sick of life, he was sick of everybody telling him he was weak and stupid. (Tr 1045). He wanted to kill himself; he did not want to live anymore. (Tr 1045). Jason said he was weak and could not do it. (Tr 1045). He had been wanting to kill himself for five or six years, probably since he was fourteen. (Tr 1053).

Jason related the facts of the killing. (Tr 1046). Close to midnight, Debbie, Anthony, and he were the only three at home. (Tr 1046). There was no confrontation or argument. (Tr 1047). Both Debra and Anthony were asleep. (Tr 1047). Anthony was asleep when he went to his room and stabbed him. (Tr 1048). Debbie awoke and entered the room and told Jason to stop. (Tr 1047-1048). Jason thought the killing would be quick; he thought they would die quickly after one stab wound. (Tr 1048). Jason used a knife he got from the kitchen drawer. (Tr 1050).

He left the two knives that he took on his dad's dresser. (Tr 1050).

At the time he left the house, Jason did not know they were dead. He got into the car and he left. He said he tried to get away as far away as he could. (Tr 1049). He had to break the window out of the car, and he also took \$400 from the house before he left. (Tr 1050). The money was in a sack, he thought it was Debbie's, (Tr 1050).

Jason drove around, ultimately driving into the woods in Louisiana and then to Dallas, where he picked up the hitchhiker who was with him at the time he was apprehended in Oklahoma. (Tr 1051-1052). The homicides happened on Jason's birthday, the same day his father took his car away. (Tr 1053). He had just turned 20. (Tr 1053). He was mad at his father because he did not think he cared about him. (Tr 1053). Jason always tried to do everything he could for his father. (Tr 1053). He wanted to be a good person. He tried his best to succeed. (Tr 1053). He showed the officer the cuts on his hand and said they were caused when Anthony turned the knife around on him. (Tr 1055). Jason said he was bleeding quite a bit when he left he residence. (Tr 1056).

A second interview was conducted on videotape and played for the jury. Jason related the incident again. (Tr 1059). On the day of the murders, he had been working and living at his father's house. (Tr 1059). He arrived home about 4:00 p.m. (Tr 1059). Around 11:00 p.m., Jason walked into Anthony's room and stabbed him with a knife he had obtained from the kitchen. (Tr

1060-1061). Everything went hectic. (Tr 1060). Debbie, who apparently heard Anthony screaming, came into the room, and everything became hectic. Jason stabbed Debra, too. (Tr 1060-1061). Jason left both knives in the master bedroom. (Tr 1062).

After the stabbing, Jason started running around trying to find keys to the car to get away. (Tr 1062). Debbie was on her bed at the time. (Tr 1062). Jason did not remember where Anthony was. (Tr 1062). Michael Mahn was still out of the house. (Tr 1062). Jason tried to take his father's Corvette, but he could not find the keys. (Tr 1063). Debbie, who was still alive, told him to take her car and leave. (Tr 1063). She told him the keys to her car were in a basket in her room. (Tr 1063). Jason took Debbie's Thunderbird. (Tr 1063). He ran to the car, started it, and then ran back inside trying to find the keys to other car. (Tr 1063-1064). When he returned, the Thunderbird was locked, and he had break the window with a rock. (Tr 1064). He was running back and forth from the house to the car, perhaps three or four times. (Tr 1064-1065). On one of these trips, Debbie was sitting on the couch in the living room asking why he had done it. (Tr 1065). Jason finally fled with the \$400 he found in Debbie's bank bag in a drawer. (Tr 1066-1067).

Jason drove to his girlfriend's house, but her house was dark and she was sleeping. (Tr 1067-1068). Jason drove to Perdido Key and saw people partying. (Tr 1068). He stopped, and at that time, he noticed there was blood on the outside of

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