# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# FILED

SHOT NUMBER

APR 12 1996

JASON JAMES MAHN,

OLENK, SUPPRIXE CONT Chief Destry Click

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

v.

Case No. 83,423

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/INITIAL BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANT

> ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA J. YATES Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #293237

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Mahn has shown no error in the trial court's consideration of the proposed mitigators, and that court's findings should be affirmed. Even if this Court were to find some error in the trial court's findings, such error would be harmless. Given the strength and number of the aggravators and the circumstances of the terrible crimes Mahn committed, the mitigation is negligible, and there is no likelihood of a different sentence. Barwick v. State, 660 So. 2d 685 (Fla. 1995); <u>Pietri v. State.</u> 644 So. 2d 1347 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 132 L.E.2d 836 (1995); Wuornos v. <u>State</u>, 644 So. 2d 1000 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1705, 131 L. Ed. 2d 566

(1995); <u>Armstrong v. State</u>, 642 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 115 S. Ct. 1799, 131 L. Ed. 2d 726 (1995); <u>Peterka v.</u> <u>State</u>, 640 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert. denied</u>, 115 s. ct. 940, 130 L. Ed. 2d 884 (1995).

### ISSUE v

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY OVERRODE THE JURY'S RECOMMENDED LIFE SENTENCE FOR THE MURDER OF DEBBIE SHANKO.

Mahn argues that the trial court should not have overruled the jury's recommendation and sentenced him to death for Debbie Shanko's homicide. There is no merit to this argument.

The jury recommended that Mahn be sentenced to death for killing Anthony, but recommended life imprisonment for Debbie's murder. (R 128; T 1701). The trial court, however, overrode the jury's recommendation and sentenced Mahn to death on both counts of first-degree murder. The court's findings contain the following statement regarding the override:

> The Court has very carefully considered and weighed the Aggravating and Mitigating circumstances found to exist in this case, being ever mindful that human life is at stake in the balance. The Court finds that the jury's recommendation of a life sentence could have been based only on minor, non-statutory mitigating circumstances or sympathy and was wholly without reason. In this case the

evidence of mitigation is minuscule in comparison with the enormity of the crime committed.

In this case the sentence of death is so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ, and a jury override in light of the standard pronounced in <u>Tedder v. State</u>, 322 So.2nd, 908 (Fla. 1975) would be warranted. <u>Bolender v. State</u> **422** So.2nd, 833, 837 (Fla. 1982). See also <u>Zeigler v. State</u>, 16 FLW, S, 257, 258 (April 19, 1991).

### (R 294).

Mahn sets out all of the proposed mitigating evidence that he presented to the jury and judge and concludes that the jury's recommendation of life imprisonment could reasonably have been based on the mitigating circumstances present in this case. (Initial brief at 79). As demonstrated in issue IV, <u>supra</u>, the trial court did not err in its consideration of this evidence. Just as the mitigating evidence did not outweigh the aggravators regarding Anthony's death, that same evidence did not outweigh the same aggravators as to Debbie's death.'

Mahn's argument ignores the fact that an "override is not improper simply because a defendant can point to some evidence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The propriety of the override is only emphasized by **cross**appeal issues III and IV, <u>infra</u>, which show that the court should have found two more aggravators in regard to Debbie Shanko's murder.

established in mitigation." Zeigler v. State, 580 So. 2d 127, 131 (Fla.), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 946, 112 S. Ct. 390, 116 L. Ed. 2d (1991). He also ignores the fact that this Court has affirmed 340 overrides in numerous cases where the defendants killed more than one person. Garcia v. State, 644 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 1994); Williams V. State, 622 So. 2d 456 (Fla.), cert. denied, 114 S. Ct. 570, 126 L. Ed. 2d 570 (1993); <u>Robinson</u> v. State, 610 So. 2d 1288 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 114 S. Ct. 1205, 127 L. Ed. 2d 553 (1994); Coleman v. State, 610 So. 2d 1283 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 114 S. ct. 321, 126 L. Ed. 2d 267 (1993); <u>Zeigler;</u> Porter v. State, 429 so. 2d 293 (Fla.), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 865, 104 S. Ct. 202, 78 L. Ed. 2d 176 (1983). Garcia, in fact, is directly on point with this case. Garcia broke into the home of two elderly sisters and killed both of them. The jury recommended death on one count and life imprisonment on the other. Finding the same aggravators applicable to each murder, the trial court overrode the life recommendation and imposed two death sentences. This Court held that the trial court properly considered the mitigating evidence and correctly found that the aggravators were supported by the The Court affirmed both death sentences because there were record. no differences between the murders that justified the jury's differentiating between them, finding "that under the circumstances

of this case no reasonable person could differ as to the appropriateness of the death penalty for the murder of" the second sister. 644 So. 2d at 64.

The same result should be reached in this case. The trial judge found that three aggravators (prior conviction of violent felony, HAC, and CCP) had been established for each murder. The court also made the same findings for each murder as to which proposed mitigators did and did not apply. As shown in issues III and IV, <u>supra</u>, the trial court's findings were proper and supported by the evidence. The trial court correctly applied the test from Tedder v. State, 322 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1975), and did not err in concluding that reasonable people could not differ regarding the propriety of the death sentence for Debbie's murder. Mahn has presented nothing showing that the facts of this case are so clear and convincing that no reasonable person could differ as to the appropriateness of the override.

The **cases** that Mahn cites to support his argument are factually distinguishable. In A<u>mazon v. State</u>, 487 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 1986), this Court found that the mitigating evidence Amazon presented supported the jury's recommendation of life imprisonment. Amazon's evidence, however, exceeds Mahn's both in quantity and quality. Moreover, contrary to Mahn's contention, and as discussed

in issue III, <u>supra</u>, these were not "domestic" murders. Therefore, cases such as <u>Douglas v. State</u>, 575 So. 2d 165 (Fla. 1991), Fead v. <u>State</u>, 515 So. 2d 176 (Fla. 1987), <u>Irizzarv v. State</u>, 496 So. 2d 822 (Fla. 1986), <u>Herzog v. State</u>, 439 So. 2d 1372 (Fla. 1983), <u>Phippen v. State</u>, 389 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1979), <u>Halliwell v. State</u>. 323 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 1976), and <u>Tedder</u> are inapposite and do not support Mahn's argument.

Numerous aggravators **apply to** these murders, and, in comparison with the enormity of these crimes, the mitigators are inconsequential, No reasonable basis exists for the jury's recommendation of life imprisonment, and the override should be affirmed.

### ISSUE VI

WHETHER MAHN'S DEATH SENTENCES ARE PROPORTIONATE.

Mahn argues that his death sentences are disproportionate. There is no merit to this issue.

Mahn adopts the arguments he presented in issue V that the trial court should not have overridden the jury's recommendation of life imprisonment for the murder of Debbie Shanko. As the state

demonstrated, however, that recommendation was unreasonable, and the trial court correctly imposed two death sentences.

In its proportionality review this Court must 'consider the totality of circumstances in a case" and 'compare it with other capital cases." Porter v. State, 564 So. 2d 1060, 1064 (Fla. 1990), <u>cert</u>. denied, 498 U.S. 1110, 111 S. Ct. 1024, 112 L. Ed. 2d 1106 (1991). To perform this review, the Court is "required to weigh the nature and quality" of the aggravators and mitigators in comparison with other cases. <u>Kramer v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 274, 277 (Fla. 1993). With these precepts in mind it is obvious that the cases Mahn relies on do not support his argument that his death sentences are disproportionate.

Yet again, Mahn claims that these murders were "domestic." Domestic murders, however, uniformly involve longstanding, heated, ongoing intra-family disputes where defendants kill their wives, girlfriends, children, or other family members. Here, on the other hand, Mahn had not known the victims for much more than a year and shared his father's home with them only sporadically. Mahn had no ongoing or longstanding dispute with the victims. Instead, he killed them to get revenge on his father, the real object of his hatred.

Thus, the cases Mahn relies on, all of them domestic, are readily distinguishable from this case on their basic facts. The quality and quantity of the aggravators and mitigators in the cited cases also distinguish them. For instance, <u>Farinas v. State</u>, 569 so. 2d 425 (Fla. 1990), <u>state</u>, <u>561</u> So. 2d 560 (Fla. 1990), and <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 493 So. 2d 1019 (Fla. 1986), all had two aggravators. This Court, however, found the death sentences disproportionate because the murders resulted from heated domestic confrontations. In contrast the instant case has numerous aggravators and little in mitigation, and the murders resulted from Mahn's cold, calculated, and fully premeditated plan of revenge.

The other cases Mahn cites are all single-aggravator cases, i.e., <u>Chakv v, State</u>, 651 So. 2d 1169 (Fla. 1995); <u>White v. State</u>, 616 so. 2d 21 (Fla. 1993); <u>Klokoc v. State</u>, 589 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 1991); <u>Penn v. Stat&</u> 574 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 1991); <u>Ross v. State</u>, 474 so. 2d 1170 (Fla. 1985); <u>Blair v. State</u>, 406 So. 2d 1103 (Fla. 1981). Besides having little in aggravation, these cases contain considerable mitigation, especially mental mitigation. <u>E.g.</u>, m<u>ite</u>; <u>Klokoc</u>; <u>Penn</u>. Here, on the other hand, the mitigation is inconsequential. Moreover, the aggravators are substantial and include both HAC and CCP, two of the strongest aggravators. <u>See</u> <u>Fitzgerald v. State</u>, 527 So. 2d 809 (Fla. 1988).

Instead of the cases Mahn relies on, other cases provide more appropriate comparisons to the instant case. Both Garcia v. State, 644 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 1994), and Porter v. State, 429 So. 2d 293 (Fla.), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 865, 104 S. Ct. 202, 78 L. Ed. 2d 176 (1983), are double murder cases where this Court affirmed jury overrides. The aggravators and mitigators in these cases are comparable to the aggravators and mitigators in this case and demonstrate that the death sentences here are appropriate. In addition to Garcia and Porter there are numerous other multiplemurder cases containing aggravators comparable to those in this case and similar mitigation (some with much more mitigation than Mahn) where this Court found that the trial courts correctly considered the mitigating evidence and then properly weighed the aggravators and mitigators: Windom v. State, 656 So. 2d 432 (Fla. 1995); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 652 So. 2d 346 (Fla. 1995); Pittman v. State, 646 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1982, 131 L. Ed. 2d 870 (1995); Stein v. State, 632 So. 2d 1361 (Fla.), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 115 S. Ct. 111, 130 L. Ed. 2d 58 (1994); <u>Asay</u> v. State, 580 So. 2d 610 (Fla.), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 895, 112 S. ct. 265, 116 L. Ed. 2d 218 (1991); Chandler v. State, 534 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1075, 109 S. Ct. 2089, 104 L. Ed. 2d 652 (1989); Correll v. State, 523 So. 2d 562 (Fla.),

<u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 458 U.S. 871, 109 S. Ct. 183, 102 L. Ed. 2d 152 (1988); <u>Huff v. State</u>, 495 So. 2d 145 (Fla. 1986); <u>Hooper v. State</u>, **476 So.** 2d 1253 (Fla. 1985), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 475 U.S. 1098, 106 S. ct. 1501, 89 L. Ed. 2d 901 (1986); <u>Rutledge v. State</u>, 374 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 1979), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 446 U.S. 913, 100 S. Ct. 1844, 64 L. Ed. 2d 267 (1980).

When the instant case is set beside truly comparable cases, it is obvious that these murders are among the most aggravated and least mitigated. Mahn's death sentences are proportionate and should be affirmed. Even if this Court decides that the trial court should not have overridden the jury's recommendation and sentenced Mahn to death for Debbie's murder, the death sentence for Anthony's murder should be affirmed. <u>Walls v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 381 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert. denied</u>, **115 S. Ct. 943, 130** L. Ed. 2d 887 (1995); <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 500 U.S. 938, 111 S. Ct. 2067, 114 L. Ed. 2d 471 (1991); <u>Turner v. State</u>, 530 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, 489 U.S. 1040, 109 s. ct. 1175, 103 L. Ed. 2d 237 (1989).

### ISSUE VII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GIVING THE STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTION ON THE CCP AGGRAVATOR.

Mahn argues that the trial court erred in giving the thenstandard instruction on the CCP aggravator. This issue has not been preserved for appeal, and no reversible error has been demonstrated.

Mahn filed a pretrial motion attacking, in shotgun fashion, the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty statute. (R 83-91). One of those boilerplate claims argued that the CCP aggravator is unconstitutional. (R 88-89). At the penalty-phase charge conference defense counsel objected to instructing on that aggravator because the facts did not support it. (T 1296-97). Mahn also did not propose an alternative CCP instruction.

To preserve this claim, a specific objection to the wording of the CCP instruction must be made at trial. <u>Gamble v. State</u>, 659 so. 2d 242 (Fla. 1995); <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 648 So. 2d 692 (Fla. 19941, cert. <u>denied</u>, 132 L. Ed. 2d 286 (1995); <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 648 so. 2d 85 (Fla. 1994); <u>Walls v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 381 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert. denied</u>, 115 S. Ct. 943, 130 L. Ed. 2d 887 (1995). Mahn's failure to make a sufficient objection to the CCP

instruction precludes appellate review because this issue has not been preserved.

Even if this issue were cognizable now, no relief would be warranted. As demonstrated in issue III, <u>supra</u>, these murders were cold, calculated, and premeditated with no pretense of moral or legal justification under any definition of those terms. Any instructional error regarding the CCP aggravator was harmless, and this issue should be denied.

### ISSUE VIII

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE HAC AGGRAVATOR.

Mahn argues that the trial court erred in giving the standard jury instruction on the HAC aggravator. Besides not being preserved for appellate review, this issue has no merit.

Prior to trial, Mahn filed a motion, containing numerous boilerplate claims, complaining that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional. (R 83-91). Included in this shotgun challenge is the allegation that the CCP and HAC aggravators 'are unconstitutional because they do not narrow the **class** of death eligible persons, or channel the discretion of the sentencer." (R 88). Contrary to Mahn's assertion (initial brief at 93), this

motion does not constitute an objection to the standard jury instruction and a request for a substitute instruction.

At the penalty-phase charge conference, defense counsel stated: "I object to heinous, atrocious and cruel. It's vague and ambiguous." (T 1295). Counsel also argued that the facts did not support finding the HAC aggravator. (T 1295). Given that the pretrial motion complained only about the constitutionality of the aggravator itself, this objection is insufficient to constitute an objection to the wording of the instruction on the HAC aggravator. Besides failing to make a sufficient, specific objection, Mahn **also** failed to propose an alternative instruction. This issue, therefore, has not been preserved for appellate review. Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 943, 130 L. Ed. 2d 887 (1995).

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